

3E

ECONOMICS

ACEMOGLU | LAIBSON | LIST



Third Edition Global Edition

ECONOMICS

This page is intentionally left blank

Third Edition Global Edition

ECONOMICS

Daron Acemoglu

Massachusetts Institute of Technology

David Laibson

Harvard University

John A. List

University of Chicago



Harlow, England • London • New York • Boston • San Francisco • Toronto • Sydney • Dubai • Singapore • Hong Kong Tokyo • Seoul • Taipei • New Delhi • Cape Town • Sao Paulo • Mexico City • Madrid • Amsterdam • Munich • Paris • Milan Please contact https://support.pearson.com/getsupport/s/contactsupport with any queries on this content. Cover Image: rikkyall / Shutterstock

Microsoft and/or its respective suppliers make no representations about the suitability of the information contained in the documents and related graphics published as part of the services for any purpose. All such documents and related graphics are provided "as is" without warranty of any kind. Microsoft and/or its respective suppliers hereby disclaim all warranties and conditions with regard to this information, including all warranties and conditions of merchantability, whether express, implied or statutory, fitness for a particular purpose, title, and non-infringement. In no event shall Microsoft and/or its respective suppliers be liable for any special, indirect, or consequential damages or any damages whatsoever resulting from loss of use, data, or profits, whether in an action of contract, negligence, or other tortious action, arising out of or in connection with the use or performance of information available from the services.

The documents and related graphics contained herein could include technical inaccuracies or typographical errors. Changes are periodically added to the information herein. Microsoft and/or its respective suppliers may make improvements and/ or changes in the product(s) and/or the program(s) described herein at any time. Partial screen shots may be viewed in full within the software version specified.

Microsoft® and Windows® are registered trademarks of the Microsoft Corporation in the U.S.A. and other countries. This book is not sponsored or endorsed by or affiliated with the Microsoft Corporation.

Acknowledgments of third-party content appear on the appropriate page within the text.

Pearson Education Limited KAO Two KAO Park Hockham Way Harlow Essex CM17 9SR United Kingdom

and Associated Companies throughout the world

Visit us on the World Wide Web at: www.pearsonglobaleditions.com

© Pearson Education Limited 2022

The rights of Daron Acemoglu, David Laibson, and John A. List, to be identified as the authors of this work, has been asserted by them in accordance with the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988.

Authorized adaptation from the United States edition, entitled *Economics*, 2nd Edition, ISBN 978-0-13-449206-3 by Daron Acemoglu, David Laibson, and John A. List, published by Pearson Education © 2018.

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise, without either the prior written permission of the publisher or a license permitting restricted copying in the United Kingdom issued by the Copyright Licensing Agency Ltd, Saffron House, 6–10 Kirby Street, London EC1N 8TS.

All trademarks used herein are the property of their respective owners. The use of any trademark in this text does not vest in the author or publisher any trademark ownership rights in such trademarks, nor does the use of such trademarks imply any affiliation with or endorsement of this book by such owners. For information regarding permissions, request forms, and the appropriate contacts within the Pearson Education Global Rights and Permissions department, please visit www.pearsoned.com/permissions/.

This eBook is a standalone product and may or may not include all assets that were part of the print version. It also does not provide access to other Pearson digital products like MyLab and Mastering. The publisher reserves the right to remove any material in this eBook at any time.

ISBN 10: 1-292-41101-5 ISBN 13: 978-1-292-41101-9 eBook ISBN 13: 978-1-292-41114-9

British Library Cataloguing-in-Publication Data

A catalogue record for this book is available from the British Library

Typeset in Times NR MT Pro by Integra Software Services

Dedication

With love for Annika, Aras, Arda, Eli, Greta, Mason, Max, and Noah, who inspire us every day.

About the Authors



Daron Acemoglu is an Institute Professor in the Department of Economics at the Massachusetts Institute of Technology. He has received a B.A. in economics from the University of York, 1989; an M.Sc. in mathematical economics and econometrics from the London School of Economics, 1990; and a Ph.D. in economics from the London School of Economics in 1992.

He is an elected fellow of the National Academy of Sciences, the American Academy of Arts and Sciences, the Econometric Society, the European Economic Association, and the Society of Labor Economists. He has received numerous awards and fellowships, including the inaugural T. W. Schultz Prize from the University of Chicago in 2004, the inaugural Sherwin Rosen Award for outstanding contribution to labor economics in 2004, the Distinguished Science Award from the Turkish Sciences Association in 2006, the John von Neumann Award, Rajk College, Budapest, in 2007, the Carnegie Fellowship in 2017, the Jean-Jacques Laffont Prize in 2018, and the Global Economy Prize in 2019.

He was also the recipient of the John Bates Clark Medal in 2005, awarded every two years to the best economist in the United States under the age of 40 by the American Economic Association, the Erwin Plein Nemmers Prize, awarded every two years for work of lasting significance in economics, and the BBVA Frontiers of Knowledge Award in Economics, Finance and Management. He holds honorary doctorates from the University of Utrecht, Bosporus University, University of Athens, Bilkent University, University of Bath, Ecole Normale Superieure, Saclay Paris, and the London Business School.

His research interests include political economy, economic development and growth, human capital theory, growth theory, innovation, inequality, search theory, network economics, and learning.

His books include *Economic Origins of Dictatorship and Democracy* (jointly with James A. Robinson), which was awarded the Woodrow Wilson and the William Riker prizes, *Introduction to Modern Economic Growth*, and *Why Nations Fail: The Origins of Power, Prosperity, and Poverty* (jointly with James A. Robinson), which has become a *New York Times* bestseller, and *The Narrow Corridor: States, Societies, and the Fate of Liberty* (jointly written with James A. Robinson).



David Laibson is the Robert I. Goldman Professor of Economics at Harvard University and the Faculty Dean of Lowell House. He is also a member of the National Bureau of Economic Research, where he is Research Associate in the Asset Pricing, Economic Fluctuations, and Aging Working Groups and where he co-directs the National Institute of Aging Roybal Center for Behavior Change in Health. His research focuses on the topics of behavioral economics, intertemporal choice, macroeconomics, and household finance, and he leads Harvard University's Foundations of Human Behavior Initiative. He serves on the Pension Research Council (Wharton), Harvard's Pension Investment Committee, and the Board of the Russell Sage Foundation. He has previously served on the boards of the Health and Retirement Study (National Institutes of Health) and the Academic Research Council of the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau. He is a recipient of a Marshall Scholarship, a Fellow of the Econometric Society, and an elected member of the American Academy of Arts and Sciences and the National Academy of Sciences. He is also a recipient of the T. W. Schultz Prize from the University of Chicago and the TIAA-CREF Paul A. Samuelson Award for Outstanding Scholarly Writing on Lifelong Financial Security. Laibson holds degrees from Harvard University (A.B. in economics), the London School of Economics (M.Sc. in econometrics and mathematical economics), and the Massachusetts Institute of Technology (Ph.D. in economics). He received his Ph.D. in 1994 and has taught at Harvard since then. In recognition of his teaching excellence, he has been awarded Harvard's Phi Beta Kappa Prize and a Harvard College Professorship.



John A. List is the Kenneth C. Griffin Distinguished Service Professor in Economics at the University of Chicago. He received his B.S. in economics at the University of Wisconsin-Stevens Point, and Ph.D. in economics at the University of Wyoming. List joined the UChicago faculty in 2005, and served as Chairman of the Department of Economics from 2012–2018. Prior to joining the University of Chicago, he was a professor at the University of Central Florida, University of Arizona, and University of Maryland.

List was elected a Member of the American Academy of Arts and Sciences in 2011, and a Fellow of the Econometric Society in 2015. He also received the Arrow Prize for Senior Economists in 2008, the Kenneth Galbraith Award in 2010, the Yrjo Jahnsson Lecture Prize in 2012, and the Klein Lecture Prize in 2016. He received an honorary doctorate from Tilburg University in 2014, and from the University of Ottawa in 2017. John was also named a Top 50 Innovator in the Non-Profit Times for 2015 and 2016 for his work on charitable giving. He also served in the White House on the Council of Economic Advisers from 2002–2003, and is a Research Associate at the NBER.

His research focuses on questions in microeconomics, with a particular emphasis on using field experiments to address both positive and normative issues. For decades his field experimental research has focused on issues related to the inner-workings of markets, the effects of various incentives schemes on market equilibria and allocations, how behavioral economics can augment the standard economic model, on early childhood education and interventions, and most recently on the gender earnings gap in the gig economy (using evidence from rideshare drivers).

His research includes over 200 peer-reviewed journal articles and several published books, including the 2013 international best-seller, *The Why Axis: Hidden Motives and the Undiscovered Economics of Everyday Life* (with Uri Gneezy).

This page is intentionally left blank

Brief Contents

| PART I | Introduction to Economics 36 |
|------------|---|
| Chapter 1 | The Principles and Practice of Economics 36 |
| Chapter 2 | Economic Science: Using Data and Models to Understand the World 54 |
| Chapter 3 | Optimization: Trying to Do the Best You Can 78 |
| Chapter 4 | Demand, Supply, and Equilibrium 96 |
| PART II | Foundations of Microeconomics 124 |
| Chapter 5 | Consumers and Incentives 124 |
| Chapter 6 | Sellers and Incentives 154 |
| Chapter 7 | Perfect Competition and the Invisible Hand 186 |
| Chapter 8 | Trade 216 |
| Chapter 9 | Externalities and Public Goods 244 |
| Chapter 10 | The Government in the Economy: Taxation and Regulation 274 |
| Chapter 11 | Markets for Factors of Production 306 |
| PART III | Market Structure 332 |
| Chapter 12 | Monopoly 332 |
| Chapter 13 | Game Theory and Strategic Play 358 |
| Chapter 14 | Oligopoly and Monopolistic Competition 382 |
| PART IV | Extending the Microeconomic Toolbox 410 |
| Chapter 15 | Trade-offs Involving Time and Risk 410 |
| Chapter 16 | The Economics of Information 428 |
| Chapter 17 | Auctions and Bargaining 446 |
| Chapter 18 | Social Economics 468 |
| PART V | Introduction to Macroeconomics 490 |
| Chapter 19 | The Wealth of Nations: Defining and Measuring Macroeconomic Aggregates 490 |
| Chapter 20 | Aggregate Incomes 520 |
| PART VI | Long-Run Growth and Development 546 |
| Chapter 21 | Economic Growth 546 |
| Chapter 22 | Why Isn't the Whole World Developed? 582 |

| PART VII | Equilibrium in the Macroeconomy 608 |
|------------|--|
| Chapter 23 | Employment and Unemployment 608 |
| Chapter 24 | Credit Markets 636 |
| Chapter 25 | The Monetary System 662 |
| PART VIII | Short-Run Fluctuations and Macroeconomic Policy 690 |
| Chapter 26 | Short-Run Fluctuations 690 |
| Chapter 27 | Countercyclical Macroeconomic Policy 722 |
| PART IX | Macroeconomics in a Global Economy 750 |
| Chapter 28 | Macroeconomics and International Trade 750 |
| Chapter 29 | Open Economy Macroeconomics 774 |
| | |

Contents

| PART I INTRODUCTION TO ECONOMICS | 36 |
|--|----|
| Chapter 1: The Principles and Practice of Economics | 36 |
| 1.1 The Scope of Economics | 37 |
| Economic Agents and Economic Resources | 37 |
| Definition of Economics | 38 |
| Positive Economics and Normative Economics | 39 |
| Microeconomics and Macroeconomics | 40 |
| 1.2 Three Principles of Economics | 40 |
| 1.3 The First Principle of Economics: Optimization | 41 |
| Trade-offs and Budget Constraints | 42 |
| Opportunity Cost | 43 |
| Cost-Benefit Analysis | 44 |
| Evidence-Based Economics: Is Facebook free? | 45 |
| Equilibrium | 47 |
| - The Free-Rider Problem | 48 |
| 1.5 The Third Principle of Economics: | |
| Empiricism | 49 |
| 1.6 Is Economics Good for You? | 49 |
| Summary | 50 |
| Key Terms | 51 |
| Questions | 51 |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems | 51 |
| Problems | 52 |

Chapter 2: Economic Science: Using Data and Models to **Understand the World**

| 2.1 The Scientific Method | 55 |
|--|----|
| Models and Data | 56 |
| An Economic Model | 57 |
| Evidence-Based Economics: How much more does a worker with a 4-year college degree earn compared to a worker with a high school | |
| degree? | 58 |
| Means and Medians | 60 |
| Argument by Anecdote | 60 |

| 2.2 Causation and Correlation | 61 |
|--|----------|
| The Red Ad Blues | 61 |
| Causation Versus Correlation | 61 |
| Choice & Consequence: Spend Now and Pay Later? Experimental Economics and Natural Experiments | 64 64 |
| Evidence-Based Economics: What is the return to education? 2.3 Economic Questions and Answers | 65 66 |
| Summary | 68 |
| Key Terms | 68 |
| Questions | 68 |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems | 69 |
| Problems | 69 |
| Appendix: Constructing and Interpreting Charts and Graphs | 71 |
| A Study about Incentives | 71 |
| Experimental Design | 71 |
| Describing Variables | 72 |
| Cause and Effect | 74 |
| Appendix Key Terms | 77 |
| Appendix Problems | 77 |

Chapter 3: Optimization: Trying to Do the Best You Can

| 3.1 Optimization: Trying to Choose the Best Feasible Option | 79 |
|---|----|
| Choice & Consequence: Do People Actually Choose the Best Feasible Option?3.2 Optimization Application: Renting the | 80 |
| Optimal Apartment | 80 |
| Before and After Comparisons | 83 |
| 3.3 Optimization Using Marginal Analysis | 84 |
| Marginal Cost | 85 |
| Evidence-Based Economics: How does | |
| location affect the rental cost of housing? | 88 |
| Summary | 91 |
| Key Terms | 92 |
| Questions | 92 |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems | 92 |
| Problems | 92 |

Chapter 4: Demand, Supply, and Equilibrium

| and Equilibrium | 96 |
|--|-----|
| 4.1 Markets | 97 |
| Competitive Markets | 98 |
| 4.2 How Do Buyers Behave? | 99 |
| Demand Curves | 100 |
| Willingness to Pay | 100 |
| From Individual Demand Curves to Aggregated | |
| Demand Curves | 101 |
| Building the Market Demand Curve | 102 |
| Shifting the Demand Curve | 103 |
| Evidence-Based Economics: How much mo | ore |
| gasoline would people buy if its price were | |
| lower? | 105 |
| 4.3 How Do Sellers Behave? | 107 |
| Supply Curves | 107 |
| Willingness to Accept | 107 |
| From the Individual Supply Curve to the Market | |
| Supply Curve | 108 |
| Shifting the Supply Curve | 109 |
| 4.4 Supply and Demand in Equilibrium | 111 |
| Curve Shifting in Competitive Equilibrium | 113 |
| Letting the Data Speak: Technological | |
| Breakthroughs Drive Down the Equilibrium | |
| Price of Oil | 114 |
| Letting the Data Speak: The Day Oil | 115 |
| A 5 What Would Happen If the Government | 115 |
| Tried to Dictate the Price of Gasoline? | 116 |
| Choice & Consequence: The Unintended | |
| Consequences of Fixing Market Prices | 118 |
| Summary | 119 |
| Key Terms | 120 |
| Questions | 120 |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems | 121 |
| Problems | 121 |
| | |
| | |
| | 194 |
| INICROECONOMICS | 144 |
| Chapter 5: Consumers and | |
| Incentives | 124 |
| 5.1 The Buyer's Problem | 125 |
| What You Like | 125 |
| Prices of Goods and Services | 126 |
| How Much Money You Have to Spend | 126 |
| Choice & Consequence: Absolutes Versus | |
| Percentages | 126 |
| 5.2 Putting It All Together | 128 |
| Price Changes | 130 |
| 5 | |

| Letting the Data Speak: Does \$6+\$1 | |
|--|------------|
| Always $=$ \$7? | 131 |
| Income Changes | 131 |
| 5.3 From the Buyer's Problem to the | |
| Demand Curve | 132 |
| 5.4 Consumer Surplus | 133 |
| An Empty Feeling: Loss in Consumer Surplus When Price Increases | 134 |
| Evidence-Based Economics: Would a | |
| smoker quit the habit for \$100 per month? | 135 |
| 5.5 Demand Elasticities | 138 |
| The Price Elasticity of Demand | 138 |
| The Cross-Price Elasticity of Demand | 143 |
| The Income Elasticity of Demand | 144 |
| Letting the Data Speak: Should McDonald's Be Interested in | |
| Elasticities? | 145 |
| Summary | 145 |
| Key Terms | 146 |
| Questions | 146 |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems | 147 |
| Problems | 148 |
| Appendix: Representing Preferences with Indifference Curves: Another Use of the | |
| Budget Constraint | 150 |
| Appendix Questions Appendix Key Terms | 153 153 |

Chapter 6: Sellers and Incentives

| 154 | ŀ |
|-----|---|
|-----|---|

| 6.1 Sellers in a Perfectly Competitive | |
|---|-----|
| Market | 155 |
| 6.2 The Seller's Problem | 155 |
| Making the Goods: How Inputs Are Turned into | |
| Outputs | 156 |
| The Cost of Doing Business: Introducing Cost | |
| Curves | 157 |
| The Rewards of Doing Business: Introducing | |
| Revenue Curves | 160 |
| Putting It All Together: Using the Three | |
| Components to Do the Best You Can | 161 |
| Choice & Consequence: Maximizing Total | |
| Profit. Not Per-Unit Profit | 163 |
| 6.3 From the Seller's Problem to the | |
| Supply Curve | 164 |
| Price Elasticity of Supply | 164 |
| Shutdown | 165 |
| Choice & Consequence: Marginal Decision | |
| Makers Ignore Sunk Costs | 167 |
| 6.4 Producer Surplus | 167 |
| 6.5 From the Short Run to the Lona Run | 169 |
| Long-Run Supply Curve | 170 |
| Long Kun Supply Curve | 170 |

Choice & Consequence: Visiting a Car

| Manufacturing Plant | 170 |
|--|-----|
| 6.6 From the Firm to the Market: Long-Run | |
| Competitive Equilibrium | 171 |
| Firm Entry | 171 |
| Firm Exit | 173 |
| Zero Profits in the Long Run | 173 |
| Economic Profit Versus Accounting Profit | 174 |
| Letting the Data Speak: The Effect of Uber Driver Entry in the Long Run | 175 |
| Evidence-Based Economics: How would an ethanol subsidy affect ethanol producers? | 176 |
| Summary | 179 |
| Key Terms | 179 |
| Questions | 180 |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems | 181 |
| Problems | 181 |
| Appendix: When Firms Have Different Cost | |
| Structures | 184 |

Chapter 7: Perfect Competition and the Invisible Hand

186

| 7.1 Perfect Competition and Efficiency | 187 |
|---|-----|
| Social Surplus | 188 |
| Pareto Efficiency | 190 |
| 7.2 Extending the Reach of the InvisibleHand: From the Individual to the Firm7.3 Extending the Reach of the Invisible | 190 |
| Hand: Allocation of Resources Across Industries | 194 |
| Letting the Data Speak: Adam Smith Visits the White House | 197 |
| 7.4 Prices Guide the Invisible Hand | 197 |
| Deadweight Loss | 199 |
| Evidence-Based Economics: Do companies | |
| like Uber make use of the invisible hand? | 200 |
| The Command Economy | 204 |
| Choice & Consequence: FEMA and Walma | art |
| After Katrina | 205 |
| The Central Planner | 206 |
| Choice & Consequence: Command and | 207 |
| 7.5 Equity and Efficiency | 207 |
| | 200 |
| composed of only self-interested people maximi | ze |
| the overall well-being of society? | 209 |
| Summary | 212 |
| Key Terms | 212 |
| Questions | 212 |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems | 213 |
| Problems | 214 |

Chapter 8: Trade

| 8.1 The Production Possibilities Curve | 217 |
|--|-----|
| Calculating Opportunity Cost | 219 |
| 8.2 The Basis for Trade: Comparative | |
| Advantage | 220 |
| Specialization | 221 |
| Absolute Advantage | 221 |
| Choice & Consequence: An Experiment on | |
| Comparative Advantage | 222 |
| The Price of the Trade | 223 |
| 8.3 Trade Between States | 224 |
| Choice & Consequence: Should LeBron Jam | es |
| Paint His Own House? | 225 |
| Economy-Wide PPC | 226 |
| Comparative Advantage and Specialization Among | |
| States | 227 |
| 8.4 Trade Between Countries | 228 |
| Determinants of Trade Between Countries | 230 |
| Exporting Nations: Winners and Losers | 231 |
| Letting the Data Speak: Fair Trade Products | 231 |
| Importing Nations: Winners and Losers | 233 |
| Where Do World Prices Come From? | 234 |
| Determinants of a Country's Comparative | |
| Advantage | 234 |
| 8.5 Arguments Against Free Trade | 234 |
| National Security Concerns | 234 |
| Fear of Globalization | 235 |
| Environmental and Resource Concerns | 235 |
| Infant Industry Arguments | 235 |
| The Effects of Tariffs | 236 |
| Choice & Consequence: Tariffs Affect Trade | |
| Between Firms | 237 |
| Evidence-Based Economics: Will free trade | |
| cause you to lose your job? | 238 |
| Summary | 240 |
| Key Ierms | 240 |
| Questions | 240 |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems | 241 |
| Problems | 242 |

Chapter 9: Externalities and Public Goods

| 9.1 Externalities | 245 |
|--|-----|
| A "Broken" Invisible Hand: Negative Externalities | 246 |
| A "Broken" Invisible Hand: Positive Externalities | 248 |
| Pecuniary Externalities | 250 |
| Choice & Consequence: Coronavirus Vaccination: Positive Externalities in Spots You | |
| Never Imagined | 250 |

| 9.2 Private Solutions to Externalities | 251 |
|---|-------------------|
| Private Solution: Bargaining | 251 |
| The Coase Theorem | 252 |
| Private Solution: Doing the Right Thing | 253 |
| 9.3 Government Solutions to Externalities | 254 |
| Government Regulation: Command-and-Control Policies | 254 |
| Evidence-Based Economics: How did the government lower the number of earthquakes in Oklahoma? | 255 |
| Government Regulation: Market-Based Approaches | 255 |
| Corrective Taxes | 257 |
| Corrective Subsidies | 258 |
| Letting the Data Speak: How to Value Externalities | 259 |
| Letting the Data Speak: Pay as You Throw: Consumers Create Negative Externalities Too! 9.4 Public Goods | 260 260 |
| Government Provision of Public Goods | 262 |
| Choice & Consequence: The Free-Rider's Dilemma | 262 264 |
| 9.5 Common Pool Besource Goods | 204 266 |
| Choice & Consequence: Tragedy of the | 200 |
| Commons | 267 |
| Choice & Consequence: The Race to Fish Evidence-Based Economics: How can the Queen of England lower her commute time to | 268 |
| Wembley Stadium? | 269 |
| Koy Torms | 270 |
| Questions | 271 |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems | 271 |
| Problems | 272 |

Chapter 10: The Government in the Economy: Taxation and Regulation

| 10.1 Taxation and Government Spending in the United States | 275 |
|--|------------|
| Where Does the Money Come From? | 276 |
| Why Does the Government Tax and Spend? | 278 |
| Choice & Consequence: The Government Budget Constraint | 279 |
| Letting the Data Speak: Understanding Federal Income Tax Brackets | 280 |
| Letting the Data Speak: Reducing Inequality the Scandinavian Way Taxation: Tax Incidence and Deadweight Losses | 283 284 |
| Choice & Consequence: The Deadweight Loss Depends on the Tax | 287 |

| 10.2 Regulation | 289 |
|--|-----|
| Direct Regulation | 289 |
| 10.3 Government Failures | 292 |
| The Direct Costs of Bureaucracies | 293 |
| Corruption | 293 |
| Underground Economy | 293 |
| Choice & Consequence: Can Market | 204 |
| 10.4 Equity Versus Efficiency | 295 |
| 10.5 Consumer Sovereignty and | |
| Paternalism | 297 |
| The Debate | 297 |
| Evidence-Based Economics: What is the optimal size of government? | 298 |
| Letting the Data Speak: The Efficiency of Government Versus Privately Run | |
| Expeditions | 300 |
| Choice & Consequence: Taxation and | |
| Innovation | 300 |
| Summary | 301 |
| Key Terms | 301 |
| Questions | 301 |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems | 302 |
| Problems | 302 |

Chapter 11: Markets for Factors of Production

| 11.1 The Competitive Labor Market | 307 |
|--|-----|
| The Demand for Labor | 308 |
| 11.2 The Supply of Labor: Your Labor- | |
| Leisure Trade-Off | 310 |
| Labor Market Equilibrium: Supply Meets | |
| Demand | 312 |
| Labor Demand Shifters | 312 |
| Choice & Consequence: Producing Web | |
| Sites and Computer Programs | 312 |
| Letting the Data Speak: "Get Your Hot | |
| Dogs Here!" | 313 |
| Factors That Shift Labor Supply | 314 |
| Letting the Data Speak: Do Wages Really | Go |
| Down If Labor Supply Increases? | 315 |
| 11.3 Wage Inequality | 316 |
| Differences in Human Capital | 316 |
| Differences in Compensating Wage Differentials | 317 |
| Choice & Consequence: Paying for Worke | r |
| Training | 317 |
| Discrimination in the Job Market | 318 |
| Changes in Wage Inequality over Time | 319 |
| Choice & Consequence: Compensating | |
| Wage Differentials | 320 |
| Letting the Data Speak: Broadband and | |
| Inequality | 321 |
| | |

11.4 The Market for Other Factors of **Production: Physical Capital and Land**

| Production: Physical Capital and Land | 322 |
|---|-----|
| Letting the Data Speak: The Top 1 Percent | |
| Share and Capital Income | 323 |
| Evidence-Based Economics: Is there | |
| discrimination in the labor market? | 325 |
| Summary | 326 |
| Key Terms | 327 |
| Questions | 327 |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems | 327 |
| Problems | 328 |
| Appendix: Monopsony in the Labor | |
| Market | 330 |

PART III MARKET STRUCTURE

| Chapter | 12: | Monopoly | 332 |
|---------|-----|----------|-----|
| | | | |

| 12.1 Introducing a New Market Structure | 333 |
|---|-----|
| 12.2 Sources of Market Power | 333 |
| Legal Market Power | 334 |
| Natural Market Power | 334 |
| Control of Key Resources | 335 |
| Choice & Consequence: Barriers to Entry | |
| Lurk Everywhere | 335 |
| Economies of Scale | 336 |
| 12.3 The Monopolist's Problem | 337 |
| Revenue Curves | 338 |
| Price, Marginal Revenue, and Total Revenue | 340 |
| 12.4 Choosing the Optimal Quantity and | |
| Price | 341 |
| Producing the Optimal Quantity | 341 |
| Setting the Optimal Price | 342 |
| How a Monopolist Calculates Profits | 343 |
| Does a Monopoly Have a Supply Curve? | 344 |
| 12.5 The "Broken" Invisible Hand: The | |
| Cost of Monopoly | 344 |
| 12.6 Restoring Efficiency | 346 |
| Three Degrees of Price Discrimination | 347 |
| Letting the Data Speak: Third-Degree | |
| Price Discrimination in Action | 349 |
| 12.7 Government Policy Toward | |
| Monopoly | 349 |
| The Microsoft Case | 350 |
| Price Regulation | 351 |
| Evidence-Based Economics: Can a | |
| monopoly ever be good for society? | 351 |
| Summary | 354 |
| Key Terms | 354 |
| Questions | 354 |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems | 355 |
| Problems | 355 |

Chapter 13: Game Theory and Strategic Play

| 13.1 Simultaneous-Move Games | 359 |
|---|-------------------|
| Best Responses and the Prisoners' Dilemma | 360 |
| Dominant Strategies and Dominant Strategy | |
| Equilibrium | 361 |
| Games Without Dominant Strategies | 361 |
| 13.2 Nash Equilibrium | 363 |
| Finding a Nash Equilibrium | 364 |
| Choice & Consequence: Work or Surf? 13.3 Applications of Nash Equilibria | 365 365 |
| Tragedy of the Commons Revisited | 366 |
| Zero-Sum Games | 366 |
| 13.4 How Do People Actually Play Such | |
| Games? | 368 |
| Game Theory in Penalty Kicks | 368 |
| Evidence-Based Economics: Is there value | |
| in putting yourself in someone else's shoes? | 369 |
| 13.5 Extensive-Form Games | 371 |
| Backward Induction | 372 |
| First-Mover Advantage, Commitment, and | |
| Vengeance | 373 |
| Evidence-Based Economics: Is there value i putting yourself in someone else's shoes in | n |
| extensive-form games? | 374 |
| Choice & Consequence: There Is More to | 277 |
| Summary | 378 |
| Key Terms | 378 |
| Questions | 378 |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems | 370 |
| Problems | 370 |
| i i obieniis | 5/7 |

Chapter 14: Oligopoly and **Monopolistic Competition**

| 14.1 Two More Market Structures | 383 |
|---|-----|
| 14.2 Oligopoly | 384 |
| The Oligopolist's Problem | 385 |
| Oligopoly Model with Homogeneous Products | 385 |
| Doing the Best You Can: How Should You Price to | |
| Maximize Profits? | 386 |
| Oligopoly Model with Differentiated Products | 387 |
| Letting the Data Speak: Airline Price Wars | 389 |
| Collusion: Another Way to Keep Prices High | 389 |
| Letting the Data Speak: Apple Versus | |
| Samsung | 390 |
| Letting the Data Speak: To Cheat or Not to | |
| Cheat: That Is the Question | 392 |
| Choice & Consequence: Collusion in | |
| Practice | 394 |

| 14.3 Monopolistic Competition | 394 |
|--|-----|
| The Monopolistic Competitor's Problem | 394 |
| Doing the Best You Can: How a Monopolistic | |
| Competitor Maximizes Profits | 395 |
| Letting the Data Speak: Why Do Some Fir | ms |
| Advertise and Some Don't? | 396 |
| How a Monopolistic Competitor Calculates Profits | 396 |
| Long-Run Equilibrium in a Monopolistically | |
| Competitive Industry | 397 |
| 14.4 The "Broken" Invisible Hand | 399 |
| Regulating Market Power | 400 |
| 14.5 Summing Up: Four Market Structures | 401 |
| Letting the Podcast Speak: A Surprising | |
| Duopoly: Democrats and Republicans | 402 |
| Evidence-Based Economics: How many firm | ms |
| are necessary to make a market competitive? | 403 |
| Summary | 405 |
| Key Terms | 405 |
| Questions | 405 |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems | 406 |
| Problems | 406 |
| | |
| | |
| PART IV EXTENDING THE | |
| MICROECONOMIC | |
| Τοοιβοχ | 410 |
| | |

Chapter 15: Trade-offs InvolvingTime and Risk410

| 15.1 Modeling Time and Risk | 411 |
|---|-----|
| 15.2 The Time Value of Money | 412 |
| Future Value and the Compounding of Interest | 412 |
| Borrowing Versus Lending | 414 |
| Present Value and Discounting | 415 |
| 15.3 Time Preferences | 417 |
| Time Discounting | 417 |
| Preference Reversals | 418 |
| Choice & Consequence: Failing to Anticipat | e |
| Preference Reversals | 419 |
| Evidence-Based Economics: Do people | |
| exhibit a preference for immediate gratification? | 419 |
| 15.4 Probability and Risk | 420 |
| Roulette Wheels and Probabilities | 420 |
| Independence and the Gambler's Fallacy | 421 |
| Letting the Data Speak: Roulette Wheels | |
| and Elections | 421 |
| Expected Value | 422 |
| Extended Warranties | 423 |
| Choice & Consequence: Is Gambling | |
| Worthwhile? | 423 |

| 15.5 Risk Preferences | 424 |
|----------------------------------|-----|
| Summary | 425 |
| Key Terms | 426 |
| Questions | 426 |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problem | 426 |
| Problems | 426 |

Chapter 16: The Economics of Information

| 16.1 Asymmetric Information | 429 |
|--|-----|
| Hidden Characteristics: Adverse Selection in the | |
| Used Car Market | 430 |
| Hidden Characteristics: Adverse Selection in the Health Insurance Market | 431 |
| Market Solutions to Adverse Selection: | |
| Signaling | 432 |
| Choice & Consequence: Are You Earning a Signal Right Now? | 433 |
| Evidence-Based Economics: Why do new cars lose considerable value the minute they are driven off the lot? | 433 |
| Choice & Consequence: A Tale of a Tail | 435 |
| 16.2 Hidden Actions: Markets with Moral | |
| Hazard | 435 |
| Letting the Data Speak: Moral Hazard on Your Bike | 436 |
| Market Solutions to Moral Hazard in the Labor Market: Efficiency Wages | 436 |
| Letting the Podcast Speak: Tackling Adverse Selection and Moral Hazard in the Workplace | 437 |
| Market Solutions to Moral Hazard in the Insurance Market: "Putting Your Skin in the Game" | 438 |
| Letting the Data Speak: Designing Incentives for Teachers | 438 |
| Evidence-Based Economics: Why is private health insurance so expensive? | 439 |
| 16.3 Government Policy in a World of | 440 |
| Asymmetric information | 440 |
| Government Intervention and Moral Hazard | 441 |
| The Equily-Efficiency Trade-off | 442 |
| Problem | 442 |
| Letting the Data Speak: Moral Hazard | |
| Among Job Seekers | 442 |
| Summary | 443 |
| Key lerms | 443 |
| Questions | 443 |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems | 444 |
| Problems | 444 |

Chapter 17: Auctions and Bargaining

| 17.1 Auctions | 448 |
|--|-------|
| Types of Auctions | 449 |
| Open Outcry: English Auctions | 450 |
| Letting the Data Speak: To Snipe or Not | t |
| to Snipe? | 451 |
| Open Outcry: Dutch Auctions | 451 |
| Sealed Bid: First-Price Auctions | 453 |
| Sealed Bid: Second-Price Auctions | 453 |
| The Revenue Equivalence Theorem | 455 |
| Evidence-Based Economics: How should | d |
| you bid in an eBay auction? | 456 |
| 17.2 Bargaining | 457 |
| What Determines Bargaining Outcomes? | 457 |
| Bargaining in Action: The Ultimatum Game | 458 |
| Bargaining and the Coase Theorem | 460 |
| Evidence-Based Economics: Who deterr | nines |
| how the household spends its money? | 461 |
| Letting the Data Speak: Sex Ratios Cha | nge |
| Bargaining Power Too | 463 |
| Summary | 463 |
| Key Terms | 463 |
| Questions | 464 |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems | 464 |
| Problems | 465 |
| | |

446

469

469

Chapter 18: Social Economics 468

18.1 The Economics of Charity and Fairness The Economics of Charity Letting the Data Speak: Do People Donate Less When It's Costlier to Give?

| Less When It's Costlier to Give? | 471 |
|---|-----|
| Letting the Data Speak: Why Do People | |
| Give to Charity? | 472 |
| The Economics of Fairness | 473 |
| Letting the Data Speak: Dictators in the Lab | 476 |
| Evidence-Based Economics: Do people care | |
| about fairness? | 476 |
| 18.2 The Economics of Trust and Revenge | 478 |
| The Economics of Trust | 478 |
| The Economics of Revenge | 480 |
| Choice & Consequence: Does Revenge Have | e |
| an Evolutionary Logic? | 481 |
| Letting the Podcast Speak: Sorry! I Should | |
| Apologize, but How? | 482 |
| 18.3 How Others Influence Our Decisions | 482 |
| Where Do Our Preferences Come From? | 482 |

| The Economics of Peer Effects | 483 |
|---|-----|
| Letting the Data Speak: Is Economics Bad | |
| for You? | 483 |
| Following the Crowd: Herding | 484 |
| Letting the Data Speak: Your Peers Affect | |
| Your Waistline | 485 |
| Choice & Consequence: Are You an Internet | |
| Explorer? | 486 |
| Summary | 487 |
| Key Terms | 487 |
| Questions | 487 |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems | 488 |
| Problems | 488 |
| | |

PART V INTRODUCTION TO MACROECONOMICS

Chapter 19: The Wealth ofNations: Defining and MeasuringMacroeconomic Aggregates490

| 19.1 Macroeconomic Questions | 491 |
|--|-----|
| 19.2 National Income Accounts: | |
| Production = Expenditure = Income | 493 |
| Production | 493 |
| Expenditure | 494 |
| Income | 494 |
| Circular Flows | 495 |
| National Income Accounts: Production | 496 |
| National Income Accounts: Expenditure | 498 |
| Evidence-Based Economics: In the United States, what is the total market value of annual economic production? | 500 |
| Letting the Data Speak: Saving versus | |
| Investment | 502 |
| National Income Accounting: Income | 503 |
| 19.3 What Isn't Measured by GDP? | 503 |
| Physical Capital Depreciation | 504 |
| Home Production | 504 |
| The Underground Economy | 505 |
| Externalities | 506 |
| Gross Domestic Product versus Gross National | |
| Product | 506 |
| The Increase in Income Inequality | 507 |
| Leisure | 507 |
| Does GDP Buy Happiness? | 508 |
| 19.4 Real versus Nominal | 509 |
| The GDP Deflator | 511 |
| The Consumer Price Index | 513 |

| Inflation | 514 |
|-----------------------------------|-----|
| Adjusting Nominal Variables | 514 |
| Summary | 515 |
| Key Terms | 515 |
| Questions | 516 |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems | 516 |
| Problems | 517 |
| | |

Chapter 20: Aggregate Incomes 520

| 20.1 Inequality Around the World | 521 |
|--|-----|
| Measuring Differences in GDP per Capita | 521 |
| Letting the Data Speak: The Big Mac | |
| Index | 523 |
| Cross-Country Differences in GDP per capita | 523 |
| GDP per Worker | 524 |
| Productivity | 525 |
| Incomes and the Standard of Living | 526 |
| Choice & Consequence: Dangers of Just Focusing on GDP per Capita | 527 |
| 20.2 Productivity and the Aggregate | 500 |
| Production Function | 520 |
| Productivity Differences | 529 |
| The Aggregate Production Function | 529 |
| Labor | 530 |
| Physical Capital and Land | 530 |
| Technology | 530 |
| Representing the Aggregate Production Function | 530 |
| 20.3 The Role and Determinants of | 500 |
| lechnology | 532 |
| Technology | 532 |
| Dimensions of Technology | 533 |
| Letting the Data Speak: Moore's Law | 534 |
| Choice & Consequence: Academic | |
| Misallocation in Nazi Germany | 535 |
| Letting the Data Speak: Efficiency of Production and Productivity at the | |
| Company Level | 535 |
| Entrepreneurship | 536 |
| Letting the Data Speak: Monopoly | |
| and GDP | 536 |
| Evidence-Based Economics: Why is the average American so much richer than the | |
| average Indian? | 537 |
| Summary | 539 |
| Key Terms | 539 |
| Questions | 539 |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems | 540 |
| Problems | 540 |
| Appendix: The Mathematics of Aggregate Production Functions | 543 |

PART VI LONG-RUN GROWTH AND DEVELOPMENT

Chapter 21: Economic Growth 546

| 21.1 The Power of Economic Growth | 547 |
|---|-------|
| A First Look at U.S. Growth | 547 |
| Exponential Growth | 549 |
| Choice & Consequence: The Power of | |
| Exponential Growth | 550 |
| Patterns of Growth | 551 |
| Letting the Data Speak: Levels versus | |
| Growth | 554 |
| 21.2 How Does a Nation's Economy Grow? | 556 |
| Optimization: The Choice Between Saving and | |
| Consumption | 556 |
| What Brings Sustained Growth? | 557 |
| Choice & Consequence: Is Increasing the | |
| Saving Rate Always a Good Idea? | 558 |
| Knowledge, Technological Change, and Growth | 228 |
| Letting the Data Speak: Technology and | 5(0) |
| 21.3 The History of Growth and | 560 |
| Technology | 560 |
| Growth Before Modern Times | 560 |
| Letting the Date Speek. The Crest | 500 |
| Productivity Puzzle | 561 |
| Fyidence-Based Economics: Why are you so | , 501 |
| much more prosperous than your great-great- |) |
| grandparents were? | 562 |
| Malthusian Limits to Growth | 565 |
| The Industrial Revolution | 565 |
| Growth and Technology Since the Industrial | |
| Revolution | 566 |
| 21.4 Growth, Inequality, and Poverty | 566 |
| Growth and Inequality | 566 |
| Growth and Poverty | 566 |
| Letting the Data Speak: Income Inequality | |
| in the United States | 567 |
| Choice & Consequence: Inequality versus | |
| Poverty | 568 |
| How Can We Reduce Poverty? | 569 |
| Summary | 570 |
| Key Terms | 570 |
| Questions | 570 |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems | 571 |
| Problems | 571 |
| Appendix: The Solow Growth Model | 573 |
| The Three Building Blocks of the | |
| Solow Model | 573 |
| Steady-State Equilibrium in the | |
| Solow Model | 574 |

| Determinants of GDP | 575 |
|--|-----|
| Dynamic Equilibrium in the Solow Model | 577 |
| Sources of Growth in the Solow Model | 578 |
| Calculating Average (Compound) | |
| Growth Rates | 579 |
| Appendix Key Terms | 581 |
| Appendix Problems | 581 |

Chapter 22: Why Isn't the Whole World Developed?

| 22.1 Proximate Versus Fundamental | |
|---|-----|
| Causes of Prosperity | 583 |
| Geography | 584 |
| Culture | 585 |
| Institutions | 585 |
| A Natural Experiment of History | 586 |
| 22.2 Institutions and Economic | |
| Development | 588 |
| Inclusive and Extractive Economic Institutions | 589 |
| How Economic Institutions Affect Economic | |
| Outcomes | 589 |
| Letting the Data Speak: Democracy and Growth | 590 |
| Letting the Data Speak: Divergence and | |
| Convergence in Eastern Europe | 592 |
| The Logic of Extractive Economic Institutions | 595 |
| Inclusive Economic Institutions and the Industrial | 505 |
| Revolution | 595 |
| Letting the Data Speak: Blocking the Railways | 596 |
| Evidence-Based Economics: Are tropical | |
| and semitropical areas condemned to poverty | |
| by their geographies? | 597 |
| 22.3 IS Foreign Aid the Solution to World Poverty? | 602 |
| | 002 |
| choice & Consequence: Foreign Aid | 603 |
| Summary | 603 |
| Key Terms | 604 |
| Questions | 604 |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems | 605 |
| Problems | 605 |
| Trobellio | 000 |
| PART VII EQUILIBRIUM IN THE | |
| MACROECONOMY | 608 |
| Chapter 23: Employment and | _ |
| Unemployment | 608 |
| 23.1 Measuring Employment and | |
| Unemployment | 609 |
| Classifying Potential Workers | 609 |

| Calculating the Unemployment Rate | 610 |
|--|-----|
| Trends in the Unemployment Rate | 611 |
| 23.2 Equilibrium in the Labor Market | 612 |
| The Demand for Labor | 612 |
| Shifts in the Labor Demand Curve | 614 |
| The Supply of Labor | 615 |
| Shifts in the Labor Supply Curve | 616 |
| Letting the Data Speak: Who Is Unemployed? | 617 |
| Letting the Data Speak: Racial Disparities | |
| in Unemployment and the Existence of Racial | |
| Discrimination | 617 |
| Equilibrium in a Competitive Labor Market | 618 |
| 23.3 Why is There Unemployment? | 619 |
| Voluntary Unemployment | 619 |
| Job Search and Frictional Unemployment | 620 |
| 23.4 Wage Rigidity and Structural | 620 |
| | 621 |
| | 021 |
| Choice & Consequence: Luddites and Robots | 622 |
| Edition of the Concentre Barganning | 623 |
| Chaine & Conservations Minimum | 023 |
| Laws and Employment | 624 |
| Downward Wage Rigidity | 625 |
| 23.5 Cyclical Unemployment and the | |
| Natural Rate of Unemployment | 627 |
| Evidence-Based Economics: How did | |
| unemployment and wages respond to the | |
| COVID-19 pandemic in the United States? | 628 |
| Summary | 630 |
| Key Terms | 631 |
| Questions | 631 |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems | 631 |
| Problems | 632 |
| Chapter 24: Credit Markets | 636 |
| onapter 24. Oreunt Markets | 000 |
| 24.1 What Is the Credit Market? | 637 |
| Borrowers and the Demand for Loans | 637 |
| Real and Nominal Interest Rates | 638 |
| The Credit Demand Curve | 639 |
| Saving Decisions | 641 |
| The Credit Supply Curve | 641 |
| Choice & Consequence: Why Do People Save? | 612 |
| encice a concequence. | 043 |

Credit Markets and the Efficient Allocation of

24.2 Banks and Financial Intermediation:

Letting the Data Speak: Financing Start-ups

Putting Supply and Demand Together

Assets and Liabilities on the Balance

Resources

Sheet of a Bank

Contents

| 24.3 What Banks Do | 649 |
|--|-----|
| Identifying Profitable Lending Opportunities | 649 |
| Maturity Transformation | 650 |
| Management of Risk | 650 |
| Bank Runs | 652 |
| Bank Regulation and Bank Solvency | 652 |
| Evidence-based Economics: How often | |
| do banks fail? | 653 |
| Choice & Consequence: Too Big to Fail | 655 |
| Choice & Consequence: Asset Price | |
| Fluctuations and Bank Failures | 656 |
| Summary | 657 |
| Key Terms | 657 |
| Questions | 658 |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems | 658 |
| Problems | 659 |

Chapter 25: The Monetary

System
25.1 Money
The Functions of Money

| The Functions of Money | 663 |
|---|-----|
| Types of Money | 664 |
| The Money Supply | 664 |
| Choice & Consequence: Non-Convertible | |
| Currencies in U.S. History | 665 |
| 25.2 Money, Prices, and GDP | 666 |
| Nominal GDP, Real GDP, and Inflation | 666 |
| The Quantity Theory of Money | 666 |
| 25.3 Inflation | 667 |
| What Causes Inflation? | 667 |
| The Consequences of Inflation | 668 |
| The Social Costs of Inflation | 669 |
| The Social Benefits of Inflation | 670 |
| Evidence-Based Economics: What caused | |
| the German hyperinflation of 1922–1923? | 671 |
| 25.4 The Federal Reserve | 672 |
| The Central Bank and the Objectives of | |
| Monetary Policy | 672 |
| What Does the Central Bank Do? | 673 |
| 25.5 Bank Reserves and the Plumbing of | |
| the Monetary System | 674 |
| Bank Reserves and Liquidity | 675 |
| The Demand Side of the Federal Funds Market | 676 |
| The Supply Side of the Federal Funds Market | |
| and Equilibrium in the Federal Funds Market | 677 |
| Two Ways That the Fed Controls the Federal | |
| Funds Rate | 678 |
| Choice & Consequence: Obtaining | |
| Reserves Outside the Federal | |
| Funds Market | 681 |
| The Fed's Influence on the Money Supply and | |
| the Inflation Rate | 681 |
| 00 Cantanta | |

| The Relationship Between the Federal Funds | |
|--|-----|
| Rate and the Long-Term Real Interest Rate | 682 |
| Letting the Data Speak: Two Models | |
| of Inflation Expectations | 683 |
| Summary | 686 |
| Key Terms | 687 |
| Questions | 687 |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems | 688 |
| Problems | 688 |
| | |

PART VIII SHORT-RUN FLUCTUATIONS AND MACROECONOMIC POLICY 690

Chapter 26: Short-Run Fluctuations

| 26.1 Economic Fluctuations and Rusiness Cycles | 601 |
|--|-----|
| Busiliess Cycles | 091 |
| Patterns of Economic Fluctuations | 693 |
| The Great Depression | 695 |
| 26.2 Macroeconomic Equilibrium and | |
| Economic Fluctuations | 697 |
| Labor Demand and Fluctuations | 697 |
| Sources of Fluctuations | 699 |
| Letting the Data Speak: Unemployment and the Growth Rate of Real GDP: | |
| Okun's Law | 700 |
| Multipliers and Economic Fluctuations | 704 |
| Equilibrium in the Medium Run: Partial Recovery | |
| and Full Recovery | 705 |
| 26.3 Modeling Expansions | 709 |
| Evidence-Based Economics: What caused the recession of 2007–2009? | 710 |
| Evidence-Based Economics: What caused | |
| the recession of 2020? | 714 |
| Summary | 717 |
| Key Terms | 718 |
| Questions | 719 |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems | 719 |
| Problems | 719 |

Chapter 27: Countercyclical Macroeconomic Policy

| 27.1 The Role of Countercyclical | |
|--|-----|
| Policies in Economic Fluctuations | 723 |
| 27.2 Countercyclical Monetary Policy | 724 |
| Controlling the Federal Funds Rate | 725 |
| Other Tools of the Fed | 728 |
| Expectations, Inflation, and Monetary Policy | 729 |
| Zero Lower Bound | 729 |

| Expectations in Monetary Policy | 730 |
|---|---|
| Inflation | 732 |
| Policy Trade-Offs | 734 |
| Choice & Consequence: Policy | 751 |
| Mistakes | 734 |
| 27.3 Countercyclical Fiscal Policy | 735 |
| Fiscal Policy over the Business Cycle: Automatic | |
| and Discretionary Components | 736 |
| Analysis of Expenditure-Based Fiscal Policy | 738 |
| Analysis of Taxation-Based Fiscal Policy | 740 |
| Letting the Data Speak: The Response of | |
| Consumption to Tax Cuts | 742 |
| Fiscal Policies That Directly Target the Labor | 740 |
| Market | 742 |
| Policy Waste and Policy Lags | 742 |
| Letting the Data Speak: Hybrid Policies That Involve Cooperation Between Fiscal | 740 |
| and Monetary Policymakers | /43 |
| Evidence-Based Economics: How much | 745 |
| Summary | 743 |
| Key Terms | 747 |
| Questions | 7/7 |
| | /4/ |
| Evidence Based Economics Problems | 7/7 |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems Problems | 747 748 |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems Problems | 747 748 |
| Problems PART IX MACROECONOMICS IN A GLOBAL ECONOMY | 747 748 750 |
| Problems PART IX Chapter 28: Macroeconomics Problems | 747 748 750 |
| Problems PART IX MACROECONOMICS IN A GLOBAL ECONOMY Chapter 28: Macroeconomics and International Trade | 747 748 750 750 |
| PART IX MACROECONOMICS IN A GLOBAL ECONOMY Chapter 28: Macroeconomics and International Trade | 747 748 750 750 |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems Problems PART IX MACROECONOMICS IN A GLOBAL ECONOMY Chapter 28: Macroeconomics and International Trade 28.1 Why and How We Trade Absolute Advantage and Comparative | 747 748 750 750 751 |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems Problems PART IX MACROECONOMICS IN A GLOBAL ECONOMY Chapter 28: Macroeconomics and International Trade 28.1 Why and How We Trade Absolute Advantage and Comparative Advantage | 747 748 750 750 751 |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems Problems PART IX MACROECONOMICS IN A GLOBAL ECONOMY Chapter 28: Macroeconomics and International Trade 28.1 Why and How We Trade Absolute Advantage and Comparative Advantage Advantage and International Trade | 747 748 750 750 751 751 754 |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems Problems PART IX MACROECONOMICS IN A GLOBAL ECONOMY Chapter 28: Macroeconomics and International Trade 28.1 Why and How We Trade Absolute Advantage and Comparative Advantage Comparative Advantage and International Trade Efficiency and Winners and Losers from Trade | 747 748 750 750 750 751 751 754 755 |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems Problems PART IX MACROECONOMICS IN A GLOBAL ECONOMY Chapter 28: Macroeconomics and International Trade 28.1 Why and How We Trade Absolute Advantage and Comparative Advantage Comparative Advantage and International Trade Efficiency and Winners and Losers from Trade How Wa Trade | 747 748 750 750 751 751 754 755 757 |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems Problems PART IX MACROECONOMICS IN A GLOBAL ECONOMY Chapter 28: Macroeconomics and International Trade 28.1 Why and How We Trade Absolute Advantage and Comparative Advantage Comparative Advantage and International Trade Efficiency and Winners and Losers from Trade How We Trade | 747 748 750 750 751 751 754 755 757 |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems Problems PART IX MACROECONOMICS IN A GLOBAL ECONOMY Chapter 28: Macroeconomics and International Trade 28.1 Why and How We Trade Absolute Advantage and Comparative Advantage Comparative Advantage and International Trade Efficiency and Winners and Losers from Trade How We Trade Letting the Data Speak: Living in an | 747 748 750 750 751 751 754 755 757 |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems Problems PART IX MACROECONOMICS IN A GLOBAL ECONOMY Chapter 28: Macroeconomics and International Trade 28.1 Why and How We Trade Absolute Advantage and Comparative Advantage Comparative Advantage and International Trade Efficiency and Winners and Losers from Trade How We Trade Letting the Data Speak: Living in an Interconnected World Chapter 2 | 747 748 750 750 751 754 755 757 758 |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems Problems PART IX MACROECONOMICS IN A GLOBAL ECONOMY Chapter 28: Macroeconomics and International Trade 28.1 Why and How We Trade Absolute Advantage and Comparative Advantage Comparative Advantage and International Trade Efficiency and Winners and Losers from Trade How We Trade Letting the Data Speak: Living in an Interconnected World Choice & Consequence: Trade Policy and Politics | 747 748 750 750 751 751 754 755 757 758 759 |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems Problems PART IX Macroeconomics in a GLOBAL Economy Chapter 28: Macroeconomics and International Trade 28.1 Why and How We Trade Absolute Advantage and Comparative Advantage Comparative Advantage and International Trade Efficiency and Winners and Losers from Trade How We Trade Letting the Data Speak: Living in an Interconnected World Choice & Consequence: Trade Policy and Politics Trade Barriers: Tariffs | 747 748 750 750 751 751 754 755 757 758 759 759 |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems Problems PART IX MACROECONOMICS IN A GLOBAL ECONOMY Chapter 28: Macroeconomics and International Trade 28.1 Why and How We Trade Absolute Advantage and Comparative Advantage Comparative Advantage and International Trade Efficiency and Winners and Losers from Trade How We Trade Letting the Data Speak: Living in an Interconnected World Choice & Consequence: Trade Policy and Politics Trade Barriers: Tariffs 28.2 The Current Account and the | 747 748 750 750 751 751 754 755 757 758 759 759 |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems Problems PART IX MACROECONOMICS IN A GLOBAL ECONOMY Chapter 28: Macroeconomics and International Trade 28.1 Why and How We Trade Absolute Advantage and Comparative Advantage Comparative Advantage and International Trade Efficiency and Winners and Losers from Trade How We Trade Letting the Data Speak: Living in an Interconnected World Choice & Consequence: Trade Policy and Politics Trade Barriers: Tariffs 28.2 The Current Account and the Financial Account | 747 748 750 751 751 754 755 757 758 759 759 759 759 |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems Problems PART IX MACROECONOMICS IN A GLOBAL ECONOMY Chapter 28: Macroeconomics and International Trade 28.1 Why and How We Trade Absolute Advantage and Comparative Advantage Comparative Advantage and International Trade Efficiency and Winners and Losers from Trade How We Trade Letting the Data Speak: Living in an Interconnected World Choice & Consequence: Trade Policy and Politics Trade Barriers: Tariffs 28.2 The Current Account and the Financial Account Trade Surpluses and Trade Deficits | 747 748 750 750 751 751 754 755 757 758 759 759 759 759 750 760 760 |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems Problems PART IX Macroeconomics in a GLOBAL Economy Chapter 28: Macroeconomics and International Trade 28.1 Why and How We Trade Absolute Advantage and Comparative Advantage Comparative Advantage and International Trade Efficiency and Winners and Losers from Trade How We Trade Letting the Data Speak: Living in an Interconnected World Choice & Consequence: Trade Policy and Politics Trade Barriers: Tariffs 28.2 The Current Account and the Financial Account Trade Surpluses and Trade Deficits International Financial Flows | 747 748 750 750 751 751 754 755 757 758 759 759 759 759 759 |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems Problems PART IX Macroeconomics in a GLOBAL Economy Chapter 28: Macroeconomics and International Trade 28.1 Why and How We Trade Absolute Advantage and Comparative Advantage Comparative Advantage and International Trade Efficiency and Winners and Losers from Trade How We Trade Letting the Data Speak: Living in an Interconnected World Choice & Consequence: Trade Policy and Politics Trade Barriers: Tariffs 28.2 The Current Account and the Financial Account Trade Surpluses and Trade Deficits International Flows The Workings of the Current Account and | 747 748 750 751 751 754 755 757 758 759 759 759 759 759 759 |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems Problems PART IX Macroeconomics in a GLOBAL Economy Chapter 28: Macroeconomics and International Trade 28.1 Why and How We Trade Absolute Advantage and Comparative Advantage Comparative Advantage and International Trade Efficiency and Winners and Losers from Trade How We Trade Letting the Data Speak: Living in an Interconnected World Choice & Consequence: Trade Policy and Politics Trade Barriers: Tariffs 28.2 The Current Account and the Financial Account Trade Surpluses and Trade Deficits International Financial Flows The Workings of the Current Account and the Financial Account | 747 748 750 750 751 751 754 755 757 758 759 759 759 759 759 759 759 760 760 760 760 |

| 28.3 International Trade, Technology Transfer, and Economic Growth | 765 |
|--|-----|
| Letting the Data Speak: From IBM to Lenovo | 767 |
| Evidence-Based Economics: Are companies like Nike harming workers | |
| in Vietnam? | 767 |
| Summary | 770 |
| Key Terms | 771 |
| Questions | 771 |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems | 771 |
| Problems | 772 |

Chapter 29: Open Economy Macroeconomics

| Macroeconomics | 774 |
|---|------------|
| 29.1 Exchange Rates | 775 |
| Nominal Exchange Rates | 775 |
| Flexible, Managed, and Fixed Exchange Rates | 776 |
| 29.2 The Foreign Exchange Market | 778 |
| How Do Governments Intervene in the Foreign Exchange Market? | 780 |
| Defending an Overvalued Exchange Rate | 781 |
| Choice & Consequence: Fixed Exchange Rates and Corruption | 783 |
| Evidence-Based Economics: How did George Soros make \$1 billion? | 784 |
| 29.3 The Real Exchange Rate and | |
| Exports | 785 |
| From the Nominal to the Real Exchange Rate Co-Movement Between the Nominal and the | 786 |
| Real Exchange Rates | 787 |
| The Real Exchange Rate and Net Exports | 788 |
| Letting the Data Speak: Why Did the Chinese Authorities Keep the Yuan | |
| Undervalued? | 789 |
| 29.4 GDP in the Open Economy | 790 |
| Revisiting Black Wednesday | 790 |
| Interest Rates, Exchange Rates, and Net Exports | 791 |
| Letting the Data Speak: The Costs of | |
| Fixed Exchange Rates | 793 |
| Summary Kow Torms | 774 |
| Questions | 774 |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems | 794 |
| Problems | 795 |
| Endnotes | 799 |
| Glossary | 807 |
| Credits Index | 820 823 |

This page is intentionally left blank

Preface

What's New in the Third Edition?

This revision is driven by the extraordinary period of economic history in which we are living in and its rich supply of applications that help bring the content into context for today's learners.

In our new edition of *Economics*, in addition to updating the existing data and empirical features, we have added Evidence-Based Economics Problems at the end of each chapter. These exercises provide students meaningful practice in analyzing and interpreting real-world economic questions. Here are some examples of other changes in the edition. Throughout this revision, we updated the data and charts to the most recent releases and made the text current for the recent global recession, the COVID-19 pandemic, and the 2020 election. We also undertook a number of more specific changes and added various new materials as we detail next.

- In Chapter 1, we've added new coverage on how to examine the economic impacts
 of COVID-19 through positive and normative lenses. We also discuss the trade-offs
 between health and economic output during the COVID-19 crisis. New EvidenceBased Economics Problems focus on the opportunity cost of social media, higher
 education, and going to a movie.
- In Chapter 4, we tell the story of how stay-at-home orders in 2020 impacted the demand for gasoline. A new Letting the Data Speak section profiles how the price of crude oil temporarily fell below \$0 per barrel.
- Chapter 5, a new Letting the Data Speak feature focuses on the impact of tax salience on price elasticity. New Evidence-Based Economics Problems explore the effectiveness of financial incentives to get people to quit smoking.
- In Chapter 6, a new Letting the Data Speak segment provides an example of longrun competitive equilibrium by examining the effect of base fare increases on Uber driver earnings.
- In Chapter 7, a new Letting the Data Speak feature "Adam Smith Visits the White House" examines the costs and benefits of government regulation and safety.
- In Chapter 9, a new Choices & Consequences example "Coronavirus Vaccination: Positive Externalities in Spots You Never Imagined," explores the society-wide impacts vaccination. New Evidence-Based Economics Problems analyze the linkage between hydraulic fracking and increased rates of earthquakes in Oklahoma.
- In Chapter 11, we emphasize the role of microeconomics in examining prominent social issues, from "Paying for Worker Training" to "Broadband and Inequality." New Evidence-Based Economics opener on employment discrimination and the Democratic presidential nomination. Using empirical research from economists Claudia Goldin, Cecilia Rouse, Marianne Bertrand, Sendhil Mullainathan, Kerwin Charles, and Jon Guryan, a new Evidence-Based Economics exercise examines the role of discrimination in explaining differences in wages across gender and ethnicity.
- In Chapter 14, we explore the connection between market power and the twoparty system in a new Letting the Podcast Speak feature.
- In Chapter 16, we discuss how corporate social responsibility programs can address information asymmetries in the workplace in a new Letting the Podcast Speak section.

- Chapter 18 includes a new Letting the Podcast Speak feature focused on how companies can optimize apologies to their customers. The feature uses field experiment data of millions of Uber trips to answer the question "What is the most effective and efficient way to say 'I'm sorry'?"
- In Chapter 19, we explore the macroeconomic indicators related to the COVID-19 recession. A new Evidence-Based Economics Problem highlights the national income accounting identity.
- Chapter 20 includes new Evidence-Based Economics Problems on efficiency and determinants of cross-country differences in GDP per capita.
- Chapter 21 features new Evidence-Based Economics Problems on GDP growth and investment into human capital, physical capital, and technology.
- In Chapter 22, a new Evidence-Based Economics Problem examines whether economic development is tied to climate.
- In Chapter 23, we added a new Evidence-Based Economics section about wages and employment during the COVID-19 pandemic. A new Letting the Data Speak feature profiles racial discrimination in the labor market. An updated "Luddites and Robots" Choice and Consequence feature explores future implications of AI on employment. New Evidence-Based Economics Problems assess downward rage rigidity and labor market contractions.
- In Chapter 24, we examine savings rate and bank failures during the COVID-19 recession and include a new Evidence-Based Economics Problem on bank failures.
- In Chapter 25, we explore the Fed's reaction to the COVID-19 recession. Our new treatment of monetary policy emphasizes interest on reserves (IOR), which is now the key mechanism that the Fed uses to pin down the federal funds rate. A new Letting the Data Speak section includes research on inflation expectations. The Evidence- Based Economics Problem examines the quantity theory of money.
- In Chapter 26, we offer an updated and expanded discussion on the causes of recessions and a new Evidence-Based Economics section tracking the recession of 2020 and the global economic impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. New Evidence-Based-Economic Problems cover the 2007–2009 and 2020 recessions, as well as an application of Okun's Law.
- In Chapter 27, we've added a new discussion of the government expenditure multiplier during the 2007–2009 and 2020 recessions. We examine shifting the federal funds rate by shifting the demand for reserves and analyze recent changes in the Fed's balance sheet and the federal funds rate. Chapter 27 also includes this new material:
- We discuss quantitative easing, the Fed's role as lender of last resort, and monetary policy at the zero lower bound.
- A new Evidence-Based Economic Problem examines the spending multipliers of the CARES act, which builds from in-chapter explorations of the CARES act and the impact of fiscal policy on government deficits.
- Chapter 28 contains an updated Choice and Consequence feature on trade policy and politics, including recent changes in U.S. trade policy and Brexit. New Evidence- Based Economics Problems examine economic growth, different sectors of the economy, and child labor.
- Using updated data from 2020, Chapter 29 investigates the foreign exchange market and how it relates to the real economy. Updated Evidence-Based Economics Problems on managed exchange rates explore how George Soros's hedge funds made considerable profits by betting on the devaluation of the British pound, Thai baht, and U.S. dollar.

Solving Learning and Teaching Challenges

Many students who take introductory economics courses have difficulty seeing the relevance of the key concepts of opportunity cost, trade-offs, scarcity, and demand and supply to their lives and their careers. This reduces the willingness of many students to prepare for class and to be engaged during class. With this textbook, we show them how to apply economic thinking creatively to improve their work, their choices, and their daily lives. One of our main objectives in writing this textbook was to show that the fundamentals of economics are not just exciting but also alive with myriad personal applications.

We love economics. We marvel at the way economic systems work. When we buy a smartphone, we think about the complex supply chain and the hundreds of thousands of people who played a role in producing an awe-inspiring piece of technology that was assembled from components manufactured across the globe.

The market's ability to do the world's work without anyone being in charge strikes us as a phenomenon no less profound than the existence of consciousness or life itself. We believe that the creation of the market system is one of the greatest achievements of humankind.

We wrote this book to highlight the simplicity of economic ideas and their extraordinary power to explain, predict, and improve what happens in the world. We want students to master the *essential* principles of economic analysis. With that goal in mind, we identify the three key ideas that lie at the heart of the economic approach to understanding human behavior: optimization, equilibrium, and empiricism. These abstract words represent three ideas that are actually highly intuitive.

The breakneck speed of modern technological change has, more than ever, injected economics into the lives—and hands—of our students. The technologies that they use daily illustrate powerful economic forces in action: Uber users observe real-time congestion in the transportation market when they confront surge pricing, and Airbnb travelers explore the relationships among location, convenience, and price by comparing listings near different subway stops in the same city.

As educators, it's our job to transform economic concepts into language, visual representations, and empirical examples that our students understand. Today, markets are much more interactive than they were only a decade ago, and they exemplify that it is not just competitive markets with perfect information that are relevant to our economic lives. Our students routinely take part in auctions, purchase goods and services via organized platforms such as Uber, have to struggle with pervasive informational asymmetries as they participate in online exchanges, and have to guard themselves against a bewildering array of mistakes and traps that are inherent to these new transactions.

In this ever-changing world, students must understand not just well-known economic concepts such as opportunity cost, supply, and demand but also modern ones such as game theory, auctions, and behavioral mistakes. It is these modern concepts, which are bit parts in most Principles textbooks, that occupy center stage in ours. Today economic analysis has expanded its conceptual and empirical boundaries and, in doing so, has become even more relevant and useful.

This new world provides opportunities for the teaching of economics as well, provided that we adjust our Principles canon to include modern and empirically based notions of economics. This has been our aim from day one and continues to be our aim in this third edition.

At a time when competing empirical claims abound and news sources across the political spectrum are denounced as "fake," our students need the skills to systematically question and evaluate what they read. That is why, in our Evidence-Based Economics segments and end-of-chapter assignments, we examine both the implications and the limitations of academic studies. We hope that our textbook will help form a new generation of careful thinkers, smart decision makers, engaged citizens, and even a few future economists!

Our Vision: Three Unifying Themes

Optimization

The first key principle is that people try to choose the best available option: optimization. We don't assume that people always successfully optimize, but we do believe that people try to choose the best option and often do a relatively good job of it. Because most decision makers try to choose the alternative that offers the greatest net benefit, optimization is a useful tool for predicting human behavior. Optimization is also a useful prescriptive tool. By teaching people how to do cost-benefit analysis we improve their decisions and the quality of their lives. By the end of this course, every student should be a skilled optimizer—without using complicated mathematics, simply by using economic intuition.

Equilibrium

The second key principle extends the first: economic systems operate in equilibrium, a state in which everybody is simultaneously trying to choose the best option. We want students to see that they're not the only ones maximizing their well-being. An economic system is in equilibrium when each person feels that he or she cannot do any better by picking another course of action. The principle of equilibrium high-lights the connections among economic actors. For example, Apple stores stock millions of iPhones because millions of consumers are going to turn up to buy them. In turn, millions of consumers go to Apple stores because those stores are ready to sell those iPhones. In equilibrium, consumers and producers are simultaneously optimizing, and their behaviors are intertwined.

Empiricism

Our first two principles—optimization and equilibrium—are conceptual. The third is methodological: empiricism. Economists use data to test economic theories, learn about the world, and speak to policymakers. Accordingly, data play a starring role in our book, though we keep the empirical analysis extremely simple. It is this emphasis on matching theories with real data that we think most distinguishes our book from others. We show students how economists use data to answer specific questions, which makes our chapters concrete, interesting, and fun. Modern students demand the evidence behind the theory, and our book supplies it.

For example, we begin every chapter with an empirical question and then answer that question using data. One chapter begins by asking: Would a smoker quit the habit for \$100 per month? Later in that chapter, we describe how smoking rates fell when researchers paid smokers to quit.

In our experience, students taking their first economics class often have the impression that economics is a series of theoretical assertions with little empirical basis. By using data, we explain how economists evaluate and improve our scientific insights. Data also make concepts more memorable. Using evidence helps students build intuition because data move the conversation from abstract principles to concrete facts. Every chapter sheds light on how economists use data to answer questions that directly interest students. Every chapter demonstrates the key role that evidence plays in advancing the science of economics.

Features

All of our features showcase intuitive empirical questions.

• In Evidence-Based Economics (EBE), we show how economists use data to answer the question we pose in the opening paragraph of the chapter. The EBE uses actual data from field experiments and lab experiments or naturally occurring data while highlighting some of the major concepts discussed within the chapter. This tie-in with the data gives students a substantive look at economics as it plays out in the world around them.

The questions explored aren't just dry intellectual ideas; they spring to life the minute the student sets foot outside the classroom—Is Facebook free? Is college worth it? Will free trade cause you to lose your job? Is there value in putting yourself into someone else's shoes? What is the optimal size of government? Is there discrimination in the labor market?

ECONOMICS

Q: Would a smoker guit the habit for \$100 per month?



EVIDENCE-BASED

t the beginning of this chapter, we posed a question concerning whether *a* smoker would quit the habit for \$100 a month. The tools of this chapter can help us begin to think about whether such an incentive can work and why it might work.

In thinking about such a reward, we have learned that the impact of an increase in income leads to changes in the consumer budget constraint and subsequently the demand for goods and services. To see these tools in action, we return to the shopping-spree example. Exhibit 5.5 shows the mechanics behind the effects of an increase in what we have available to spend.

With that foundation laid, we can return to the question of quitting smoking for a month. Given our economic framework, the very same principle that was at work in the shopping-spree problem applies when considering the smoker's problem. By providing \$100 for not smoking, we create a trade-off between the current benefits of smoking and the benefits obtained by \$100 of increased income. There is also another saving: by not smoking, you save the money otherwise spent on cigarettes or cigars. For simplicity, let's assume that is another \$100 per month. Thus the comparison that we need to make is whether, at the margin, \$200 of additional monthly income provides more benefits than the current benefits you gain from smoking. If they do not, then you continue smoking and miss out on the \$200 incentive.

• Letting the Data Speak is another feature that analyzes an economic question by using real data as the foundation of the discussion. Among the many issues we explore are such questions as *Should McDonald's be interested in elasticities? Do wages really go down if labor supply increases? Why do some firms advertise while others don't?*

DATA SPEAK

Fair Trade Products

What's Behind the Boom?

In response to the feeling that the growth of free trade has led to the exploitation of developing countries, a new market has opened up for the consumer concerned with a broad variety of production-related issues, including the environment, fair labor practices, and child labor in the developing world. Goods imported from the developing world that meet certain criteria are certified by third-party organizations as "fair trade" products.

To receive a fair trade label, the production of a good has to meet certain standards. For example, if the producer doesn't allow unionization, uses child or slave labor, or doesn't adhere to the UN Charter on Human Rights, then the product can't be classified as fair trade.

Consumers can't seem to get enough fair trade products. Sales growth for fair trade goods has reached double-digit proportions over the past decade. Surprisingly, sales continued to expand even after the 2008 recession, growing 15 percent in 2009.¹

Despite the recent surge in demand for fair trade products, not everyone is a fan. Overseeing billions of dollars of production isn't easy, and the capacity for certifying organizations to



enforce labor standards sometimes can't keep up with the increasing demand for fair trade products. $^{2}\,$

• In keeping with the optimization theme, in a feature titled **Choice & Consequence** we ask students to make a real economic decision or evaluate the consequences of past real decisions. We then explain how an economist might analyze the same decision. Among the questions investigated are *Do people really optimize? Should LeBron James paint his own house? Does revenge have an evolutionary logic?*

Coronavirus Vaccination: Positive Externalities in Spots You Never Imagined

Externalities are the result of agents trying to do the best they can and ignoring how their actions affect others. In this sense, it would be wrong to think of externalities as "mistakes." Externalities may result from just *not knowing* the harm we cause others. In this case, we might make choices that we later regret.

Consider the case of coronavirus (COVID-19) vaccination. When you make the decision of whether to be vaccinated against COVID-19, you likely consider only the private benefits and costs from the vaccination—namely, the benefits and costs to yourself. But you are not the only person to incur benefits or costs.

If you decide to take the COVID-19 shot, others gain: once you are vaccinated, they are now protected against catching the coronavirus from you. But people can also lose if you choose not to get the shot because you could catch the coronavirus and spread it. Many of us do not naturally consider such externalities—whether positive or negative—when making a decision about whether to get a vaccination, but governments around the globe are beginning to bring such factors into the public eye. Indeed, in shutting down schools, business, airports, and any event that holds more than 50 people, policymakers have brought the externality discussion to every household in the world.

When considering the typical flu, how important is the externality? Researchers who have studied the



externalities of vaccinations report quite large effects.² For instance, in certain situations, the external effect of you getting a flu shot can be as high as 1.5 infections. Given that approximately 10 percent to 20 percent of the U.S. population contracts the flu each year, this estimate reveals the potential value in flu vaccination programs.

If you find it important to take account of your own externalities, the next time you are weighing your private benefits and costs of getting a flu or coronavirus vaccination, remember that not getting a shot could result in as many as 1.5 more infections for everyone else. In this sense, by avoiding the needle you have imposed a great externality on the rest of the population.

Acknowledgments

As the three of us worked on this project, we taught each other a lot about economics, teaching, and writing. But we learned even more from the hundreds of other people who helped us along the way. For their guidance, we are thankful and deeply humbled. Their contributions turned out to be critical in ways that we never imagined when we started, and our own ideas were greatly improved by their insights and advice.

Our reviewers, focus group participants, and class testers showed us how to better formulate our ideas and helped us sharpen our writing. Through their frequently brilliant feedback, they corrected our economic misconceptions, improved our conceptual vision, and showed us how to write more clearly. Their contributions appear in almost every paragraph of this book. All of their names are listed below.

Our brilliant, creative, and resourceful research assistant for this edition—Alicia Zhang—played a critical role at every phase of the project, from identifying and critiquing our implicit analytic assumptions to analyzing data to editing prose to reviewing Evidence-Based Economics problems that are woven throughout the book. Alicia continuously inspired us and educated us as we jointly probed and improved the pedagogical principles developed in this text. Her masterful contributions appear on almost every page of this new edition. We are also deeply grateful to the many research assistants who made key contributions to the previous editions: Alec Brandon, Justin Holz, Xavier Jaravel, Angelina Liang, Daniel Norris, Yana Peysakhovich, and Jan Zilinsky. We are especially grateful to Josh Hurwitz and Maggie Yellen who made monumental contributions to previous editions.

We are also deeply grateful to the many inspiring economists who contributed major components of the project. Scott Ogawa of Northwestern University contributed extensively to the updates of the end-of-chapter questions and problems, which stand out as examples of inspiring pedagogy. Todd Sorensen of the University of Nevada, Reno updated the innovative and intuitive Instructor's Manual to provide useful teaching tips to facilitate synchronous and asynchronous online learning. Nathan Kemper updated the outstanding PowerPoint slides that illuminate and distill the key lessons of the book. Kalina Staub from the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill made critical contributions to the TestBank.

Most importantly, we acknowledge the myriad contributions of our editors and all of our amazing colleagues at Pearson. They have marched with us every step of the way. We wouldn't dare count the number of hours that they dedicated to this project, including evenings and weekends. Their commitment, vision, and editorial suggestions touched every sentence of this book. Most of the key decisions about the project were made with the help of our editors, and this collaborative spirit proved to be absolutely essential to our writing. Dozens of people at Pearson played key roles, but the most important contributions were made by Christopher DeJohn, Manager of Content Strategy; Thomas Hayward, Senior Content Analyst; Samantha Lewis, Product Manager Elaine Page, Content Producer; Heidi Allgair, Project Manager; Kristin Jobe, Content Project Management; Noel Lotz, Digital Content Team Lead; and Melissa Honig, Digital Studio Producer.

We also wish to thank Denise Clinton, who first got us started, and Donna Battista and Adrienne D'Ambrosia, who championed the project along the way. All of these publishing professionals transformed us as writers, teachers, and communicators. This book is a testimony to their perseverance, their dedication, and their brilliant eye for good (and often bad!) writing. Their commitment to this project has been extraordinary and inspirational. We are profoundly grateful for their guidance and collaboration.

Finally, we wish to thank our many other support networks. Our own professors, who first inspired us as economists and showed, through their example, the power of teaching and the joy that one can take from studying economics. Our parents, who nurtured us in so many ways and gave us the initial human capital that made our entire careers possible. Our kids, who implicitly sacrificed when our long hours on this book ate into family life. And, most profoundly, we thank our spouses, who have been supportive, understanding, and inspirational throughout the project.

Reviewers

This book is the product of many streams that have flowed together and so many people who have contributed their insights and their passion to this project. We are deeply grateful for these myriad collaborations.

The following reviewers, class test participants, and focus group participants provided invaluable insights.

- Adel Abadeer, Calvin College
- Ahmed Abou-Zaid, Eastern Illinois University
- Temisan Agbeyegbe, City University of New York

Carlos Aguilar, El Paso Community College

- Rashid Al-Hmoud, Texas Tech University
- Frank Albritton, Seminole Community College
- Sam Allgood, University of Nebraska, Lincoln

Neil Alper, Northeastern University

- Farhad Ameen, Westchester Community College
- Catalina Amuedo-Dorantes, San Diego State University

Lian An, University of North Florida

- Samuel Andoh, Southern Connecticut State University
- Brad Andrew, Juniata College
- Len Anyanwu, Union County College

Robert Archibald, College of William and Mary

Ali Arshad, New Mexico Highlands University

Robert Baden, University of California, Santa Cruz

- Mohsen Bahmani-Oskooee, University of Wisconsin, Milwaukee
- Scott L. Baier, Clemson University
- Rita Balaban, University of North Carolina
- Mihajlo Balic, Harrisburg Area Community College
- Sheryl Ball, Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University
- Spencer Banzhaf, Georgia State University

Jim Barbour, Elon University

Scott Barkowski, Clemson University Hamid Bastin, Shippensburg University Clare Battista, California State Polytechnic University, San Luis Obispo Jodi Beggs, Northeastern University Eric Belasco, Montana State University Susan Bell, Seminole State University Valerie Bencivenga, University of Texas, Austin Pedro Bento, West Virginia University Derek Berry, Calhoun Community College Prasun Bhattacharjee, East Tennessee State University Benjamin Blair, Columbus State University Douglas Blair, Rutgers University John Bockino, Suffolk County Community College Andrea Borchard, Hillsborough Community College Luca Bossi, University of Pennsylvania Gregory Brock, Georgia Southern University Bruce Brown, California State Polytechnic University, Pomona David Brown, Pennsylvania State University Jaime Brown, Pennsylvania State University Laura Bucila, Texas Christian University Don Bumpass, Sam Houston State University Chris Burkart, University of West Florida Julianna Butler, University of Delaware Colleen Callahan, American University Fred Campano, Fordham University Douglas Campbell, University of Memphis Cheryl Carleton, Villanova University Scott Carrell, University of California, Davis Kathleen Carroll, University of Maryland, Baltimore Regina Cassady, Valencia College, East

Campus

Shirley Cassing, University of Pittsburgh Suparna Chakraborty, University of San Francisco Catherine Chambers, University of Central Missouri Chiuping Chen, American River College Susan Christoffersen, Philadelphia University Benjamin Andrew Chupp, Illinois State University David L. Cleeton, Illinois State University Cynthia Clement, University of Maryland Marcelo Clerici-Arias, Stanford University Bently Coffey, University of South Carolina, Columbia Rachel Connelly, Bowdoin College William Conner, Tidewater Community College Kathleen Conway, Carnegie Mellon University Patrick Conway, University of North Carolina Jay Corrigan, Kenyon College Antoinette Criss, University of South Florida Sean Crockett, City University of New York Patrick Crowley, Texas A&M University, Corpus Christi Kelley Cullen, Eastern Washington University Scott Cunningham, Baylor University Muhammed Dalgin, Kutztown University David Davenport, McLennan Community College Stephen Davis, Southwest Minnesota State University John W. Dawson, Appalachian State University Pierangelo De Pace, California State University, Pomona David Denslow, University of Florida Arthur Diamond, University of Nebraska, Omaha